
 
 
 

Highways Committee 
 
 
Date Monday 8 November 2021 

Time 9.30 am 

Venue Council Chamber, County Hall, Durham 

 
 

Business 
 

Part A 
 
 
1. Apologies for Absence   

2. Substitute Members   

3. Minutes of the Meeting held on 7 October 2021  (Pages 3 - 8) 

4. Declarations of Interest   

5. Proposal to add an old road 'Nanny Poes Lane 'in Middlestone, to 
the Definitive Map and Statement of Public Rights of Way as a 
Public Bridleway - Joint Report of Corporate Director of 
Neighbourhoods and Climate Change and Corporate Director of 
Resources  (Pages 9 - 46) 

6. Definitive Map Modification Application to record the former road 
Nanny Pops Lonnen in Spennymoor as Public Bridleway - Joint 
Report of Corporate Director of Neighbourhoods and Climate 
Change and Corporate Director of Resources  (Pages 47 - 102) 

7. Such other business, as in the opinion of the Chairman of the 
meeting, is of sufficient urgency to warrant consideration   

 
 
 

Helen Lynch 
Head of Legal and Democratic Services 

 
County Hall 
Durham 
29 October 2021 
 
 
 
 



To: The Members of the Highways Committee 
 

 Councillor R Ormerod (Chair) 
Councillor D Boyes (Vice-Chair) 
 

 Councillors A Bell, T Duffy, K Earley, C Kay, J Higgins, 
J Howey, G Hutchinson, R Manchester, B Moist, D Oliver, 
I Roberts, M-Idwal Roberts, K Robson, A Simpson, A Sterling, 
F Tinsley, M Wilson and D Wood 

 
 
 
 
 

Contact:  Kirsty Gray/ Jackie 
Graham 

Tel: 03000 269 705/ 704 

 



 

DURHAM COUNTY COUNCIL 
 
 
At a Meeting of Highways Committee held in Council Chamber, County Hall, 
Durham on Thursday 7 October 2021 at 9.30 am 
 
 
Present: 
 

Councillor R Ormerod (Chair) 

 

Members of the Committee: 

Councillors D Boyes (Vice-Chair), A Bell, J Higgins, G Hutchinson, R Manchester, 
D Oliver, I Roberts, M Wilson and M Simmons (substitute for A Simpson) 
 
 

1 Apologies  
 
Apologies for absence were received from Councillors Hood, Hutchinson, Idwal-
Roberts, Moist , Robson, Simpson, Sterling and Tinsley. 
 

2 Substitute Members  
 
Councillor Simmons was present as substitute for A Simpson. 
 

3 Declarations of Interest  
 
There were no declarations of interest. 
 

4 Minutes  
 
The minutes of the meeting held on 6 September 2021 were agreed as a correct 
record and signed by the Chair. 
 

5 Seaham, Dawdon and Deneside - Parking and Waiting Restrictions 
Order 2021  
 
The Committee considered a report of the Corporate Director of Regeneration, 
Economy and Growth which advised of the proposed changes to the Traffic 
Regulation Order (TRO) in Seaham, Dawdon and Deneside and requested that 
they consider the objections made during the informal and formal consultation 
period (for copy see file of minutes). 
 
The Traffic Management Section Manager gave a detailed presentation which 
included site location plans, aerial photos and photographs of the sites and details 
of the following restrictions;  

Page 3

Agenda Item 3



 

 To introduce introduce ‘no waiting at any time’ restrictions (double yellow 
lines) in the pedestrianised area of Church Street to address obstructive 
parking, and improve safety for pedestrians.  Five objections were received in 
the informal consultation phase from local businesses who expressed 
concerns with loading and un-loading. 
 

 To introduce ‘no waiting at any time’ restrictions (double yellow lines) at the 
junction of Gregson Terrace and Seaton Lane which had been requested by 
residents to address visibility and road safety issues where a number of cars 
parked and narrowed the width of the road. Two objections had been 
received during the informal consultation phase from directly affected 
frontages. 
 

 To introduce ‘no waiting at any time’ restrictions (double yellow lines) at the 
junction of Hazel Dene Way and Hill Crescent and on the west side of the 
carriageway of Hill Crescent. These amendments were requested by Durham 
Constabulary to address visibility and road safety issues where cars parked 
on the grassed verge and on the junction of Hazel Dene Way and Hill 
Crescent. One objection was received in both the informal and formal 
consultation phase from the same resident who claimed they would be forced 
to park further down the road, away from their property. 
 

 To introduce ‘no waiting at any time’ restrictions (double yellow lines) on 
Admiralty Way in Fox Cover Industrial Estate as requested by local 
businesses. The proposals were to address issues with visibility and road 
safety at the accesses to units 3 and 4. One objection was received in the 
informal consultation phase which stated that this was not an area for 
concern. 
 

Councillor Bell referred to the photographs of Church Street and asked whether the 
bollards pictured would remain open.  The Traffic Management Section Manager 
advised that bollards were difficult to enforce as they were often removed, local 
businesses managed to get a key to remove them and it was difficult to enforce 
access restrictions.   The bollards had to be removable for emergency services and 
street cleaning and therefore this proposal would allow the Council to take 
enforcement action. 
 
In response to a question from Councilllor Bell, the Traffic Management Section 
Manager advised that the business owners who had objected did have access to 
the rear of their premises. 
 
Councillor Boyes asked details of the number of businesses that would be affected 
by the proposal.  The Civil Engineering Technician advised that of around forty 
businesses on the strip, only would be affected.  
 

Page 4



Councillor Boyes referred to the current road markings at Gregson Terrace and 
asked what difference the proposal would make if the keep clear markings were 
currently being ignored.  The Traffic Management Section Manager advised that 
keep clear was an advisory marking enforced by police whereas double yellow lines 
were enforced by the Council.  The area would be patrolled and fixed penalty 
notices could be issued after a five minute observation period and this discouraged 
people more. 
 
With regards to Hazel Dene Way, Councillor Bell queried whether this was a new 
development site and if so, why weren’t double yellow lines considered at the time.  
The Traffic Management Section Manager advised that it appeared to be a modern 
site but he was unaware of the reasons it wasn’t proposed at original planning 
stage, but only summise the Officer did not expect there to be any issues at the 
time. 
 
Councillor Bell asked whether there was a history of complaints and the Traffic 
Management Section Manager advised that Durham Constabulary had requested 
action to keep the junction free as they were concerned that traffic was being 
pushed into the central line.  The Civil Engineering Technician advised that the 
concerns were along the stretch of Hill Crescent and he was not aware of any 
requests, the proposal was a request from the police. 
 
Resolved 
 
That the proposal in principle to proceed with the implementation of the Seaham, 
Dawdon and Deneside Parking and Waiting Restrictions Order 2021 be endorsed. 
 

6 Newton Aycliffe - Parking and Waiting Restrictions Order 2021  
 
The Committee considered a report Corporate Director of Regeneration, Economy 
& Growth advise Members of the changes to the Traffic Regulation Order (TRO) in 
Aycliffe and requested Members to consider the objections made during the 
informal and formal consultation period (for copy see file of minutes). 
 
The Traffic Management Section Manager gave a detailed presentation which 
included site location plans, aerial photos and photographs of the sites and details 
of the following restrictions;  
 

 To introduce ‘no waiting at any time’ restrictions on both sides of the 
carriageway at Greenfield Way, adjacent to Greenfield School Community 
and Arts College to address obstructive parking and improve visibility and 
traffic flow for both road users and pedestrians. One objection had been 
received from Greenfield School Community and Arts College during the 
informal consultation.  
 

Page 5



 To introduce ‘no waiting at any time’ restrictions on both sides of the 
carriageway adjacent to Tekmar Energy. The proposals were to address 
obstructive parking and improve accessibility for the affected business. One 
objection had been received from Sabre Rail during the informal consultation.  

 

 To introduce ‘restricted waiting and loading Monday-Friday, 8-9am, 3-4pm’ 
on the south side of Humphrey Close for the local residents and Woodham 
Burn Community Primary School. To amend the layout of the existing school 
keep clear markings (no stopping Monday-Friday, 8am-6pm) around the 
access to Woodham Burn Community Primary School.  

 

 To introduce a ‘Disabled Badge Holders Only’ bay at the access to Woodham 
Burn Community Primary School. These proposals were to address 
obstructive parking and road safety concerns during peak school times, and 
to improve access to residents’ properties as well as Woodham Burn 
Community Primary School. One objection had been received from a local 
resident at the informal consultation stage. A representation, signed by 17 
residents, opposed to the scheme was received during the formal 
consultation stage.  

 

 To introduce ‘no waiting at any time’ restrictions on both sides of the junction 
from Well House Drive to Woodham Way. The proposals were to address 
obstructive parking, to improve accessibility and visibility for both road users 
and pedestrians. One objection had been received from a local resident at 
the informal consultation stage. 
 

 To introduce ‘no waiting at any time’ restrictions on both sides of the access 
roads to Newton Park Services extending from the junction with the A167. 
The proposals were to address obstructive parking, road safety concerns and 
improve traffic flow in this location. One objection had been received from a 
local business at the informal consultation stage. 
 

 To introduce ‘no waiting at any time’ restrictions to cover the extent of the 
Royal Mail Sorting Office in line with current planning conditions. The 
proposals were to address road safety concerns and improve traffic flow in 
this location. Two objections had been received from local businesses at the 
informal consultation stage. 

 
Councillor Bell referred to the large number of objections to the proposal on 
Greenfield Way and asked if there had been any support from local residents.  The 
Traffic Management Section Manager advised that the restrictions had been 
requested by residents and supported by local members.  The Civil Engineering 
Technician added that a number of residents had requested the restrictions via 
contact with local members. 
 

Page 6



The Traffic Management Section Manager confirmed that ballot cards were sent out 
with what was essentially a tick box exercise and acknowledged that the 
information would be useful for the Committee to consider in future reports. 
 
Councillor Bell commented that the Committee had to rely on local members and 
the Traffic Management Section Manager advised that people who were in favour 
did not tend to comment on applications. 
 
Councillor Boyes referred to Newton Park Services and the HGV parking facility 
that was closed at the time of consultation and asked whether any further 
investigative work had been done since it reopened to see whether HGV’s were still 
parking on the access road.  The Civil Engineering Technician advised that no work 
had been done since it reopened but there were significant issues when it was 
requested, prior to the closure of the petrol station.  The Traffic Management 
Section Manager advised that the access road was slightly closer than the 
alternative parking which was unfortunately closed when the survey was done, 
however a routine had been established it would usually continue so the proposal 
would address those road safety concerns. 
 
The Chair queried whether going ahead with the proposal would impact traffing 
queuing for the drive through and disperse cars onto the A167 and the Traffic 
Management Section Manager advised that queuing vehicles were not classed as 
parked vehicles so there was very little that could be done about that, however the 
police could close business down if they were having a road safety impact. 
 
Councillor Boyes asked whether there was any cumulative impact with regards to 
the proximity of proposals and was disappointed that there were no local members 
who were aware of the areas and able to put residents’ representations forward.  
The Traffic Management Section Manager confirmed that in this instance, they 
were not in close proximity but going forward he acknowledged it would be helpful 
to show a plan with all of the schemes. 
 
The Chair commented that local members had indicated support for the proposal 
but it was difficult as the application covered three wards. 
 
Mr D Priestly addressed the Committee on behalf of Greenfield Community College 
having been concerned about safety on Greenfield Way between 2.45pm and 
3.30pm on school days for twenty years.  The photograph shown was of queuing 
cars which he had heard were not affected by double yellow lines and he 
suggested that they were queuing to pick up children rather than parked. 
 
Mr Priestly continued that over the years he had requested and been declined the 
following road safety features;  
 

 Speed limit reduction from 40mph, asked for a 20mp exit restriction 

 Removal of the no right turn island  

Page 7



 Pedestrian crossing  
 
He welcomed the interest to make this a safer road and some additional lines would 
assist in enforcing a safe exit from the school.  He continued that Greenfield School 
was the only building on Grrenfield Way that actually had access an access road 
from Greenfield Way. 
 
Mr Priestly advised that a minimum of 6-8 staff were deployed between 2.45pm and 
3.30pm to ensure children used the underpass, although they did not like to use the 
underpass as they did not feel safe.  It was important to recognise that children 
being picked up who had to queue and wait for buses leave the site, before they 
could drive in, were mainly children with SEND or high levels of anxiety who 
needed to be collected from the site. 
 
He referred to the current system which had been devised in conjunction with local 
police a few years ago and consisted of queuing on one side of the road – he would 
welcome double yellow lines on the opposite side of the road.  The exit strategy 
was supervised every night and Mr Priestly was concerned that if this scheme was 
approved in its entirety, some parents would park deeper in estate and jeopardise 
the relationship between the school and local residents, or put children with 
extreme needs at higher risk or even result in looking at alternative schools.  His 
only objection was where do those people who needed to pick up their children go, 
if they were unable to pick up outside of the school. 
 
The Traffic Management Section Manager advised that vehicles were able stop and 
allow passengers boarding and this included accompanying children and vulnerable 
adults and therefore should not affect those mentioned. 
 
Councillor Bell queried the time of the restrictions and asked whether it would be 
sufficient and accord with the schools hours.  The Traffic Management Section 
Manager advised that the timing of the school would have been considered but this 
would be rechecked.   
 
The Major Projects Team Leader confirmed that was a location which had been 
affected for a number of years and the school, Town Council and Durham 
Constabulary had been consulted to develop the proposal. 
 
The recommendation to approve was moved by Councillor Wilson and seconded by 
Councillor Higgins. 
 
Resolved  
 
That the proposal in principle to proceed with the implementation of 
the Newton Aycliffe Parking and Waiting Restrictions Order 2021 be endorsed. 
 
 

Page 8



 

Highways Committee 

08 November 2021 

Nanny Poe’s Lane  

Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 

Definitive Map Modification Order  

Proposal to add an old road ‘Nanny Poes Lane ‘in Middlestone, to the Definitive 
Map and Statement of Public Rights of Way as a Public Bridleway 

 

 

 

Report of  

Alan Patrickson, Corporate Director of Neighbourhoods and 
Climate Change and Paul Darby, Corporate Director of Resources 

 

Electoral division(s) affected: 

Coundon 

Purpose of the Report 

1 In this report the Highways Committee is asked to consider all the 
relevant evidence gathered in support of an application to modify the 
Definitive Map and Statement of Public Rights of Way to add a Public 
Bridleway over an enclosed former road ‘Nanny Poes Lane’, which runs 
from the B6287 (Low Merrington Road) Merrington, in a southerly 
direction where it joins Leasingthorne Road (Document A). 

Executive summary 

2 The track is 0.5mile long and approximately 2.4-3.6m wide and 
comprises of an enclosed Lane that runs between Middlestone and 
Leasingthorne.  The route is not currently recorded on the Definitive 
Map & Statement as a Public Right of Way and is not registered on the 
list of streets/ Adopted Highways. It was formerly an old road between 
the villages of Middlestone and Leasingthorne. On the Definitive Map it 
is shown as connected/joined to Public Footpath 70 (Spennymoor) on 
its north-east side and Public Footpath 62 (Bishop Auckland) on the 
north-west (Document A). The Definitive Statements for the adjoining 
footpaths both state the paths emerge onto road which runs from 
Middlestone to Leasingthorne. Historical documentary evidence has 

Page 9

Agenda Item 5



shown that this route has been a public road since at least the 
eighteenth century (it may well be older) as shown on the Dean and 
Chapter Survey (Document B). It was originally maintained by the 
Council Highways dept as shown on the Handover Maps from 1930, 
although it is likely it was falling out of use as by this period, recorded 
then as an unclassified road. It is unclear when it dropped from the 
Councils List of streets/ Adopted Highways (no record was found), no 
stopping up order was discovered either and it is arguable that when it 
was dropped it should have been reclassified as public right of way with 
at least Bridleway status.    

3 The route is recorded as unregistered land on Land Registry records 
and is regularly used by the public. It is clearly already used by horse 
riders, (as numerous hooves prints visible when inspected).  
Consultation on this proposed addition to the Definitive Map was carried 
out with Landowners, user groups and the local Town Council. Letters 
in support were received from the British Horse Society, Open Spaces 
Society, and the Ramblers, no objections were received.  

Recommendation(s) 

4 It is recommended that the Committee agrees to make a Definitive Map 
Modification Order for the addition to the Definitive Map & Statement of 
a Bridleway between points A & B on the plan, known as Nanny Poes 
Lane, under the provisions of section 53(3)(c)(i) of the Wildlife and 
Countryside Act 1981, that the Corporate Director of Resources be 
informed accordingly. The Order shall subsequently be confirmed as an 
unopposed Order or referred to the Secretary of State for determination 
in the event of objections. 

5 The Highways Committee is recommended to: 

(a) Agrees to make a Definitive Map Modification Order for the 
addition to the Definitive Map & Statement of a Public Bridleway 
between points A & B on the plan (Document A). 

 

Background 

6 An application was submitted by Ms Sue Gamble of the British Horse 
Society in September 2018 to add the route named here as Nanny 
Poes Lane to the Definitive Map and Statement (A-B on Document A).   

7 Consultees have included the Town Council and Local County 
Councillor, landowners, occupiers, user groups.  No objections were 
made by any of the consultees and support has been expressed by the 
British Horse Society to the registration of such unrecorded routes 

Page 10



Documentary Evidence in support of the application 

8 1773 Dean and Chapter Survey Durham University Library 
(DCD/E/AA/19/1-2) 

9 The earliest known documentary evidence which depicts the application 
route is the 1773 Dean and Chapter Survey Plan (Documents B and 
C). 

10 The Dean and Chapter Plan is a record of the land holdings belonging 
to the ‘See of Durham’ it is a detailed record of individual land 
allotments, as well as Highways. In this document the application route 
is very clearly shown as an enclosed lane running north – south 
between Middlestone Village and Leasingthorne where it meets the 
(former)Turnpike Highway. The route is shown joined by a footpath on 
the northwest side (annotated by a single dashed line, approximate with 
current Footpath 62). The route is clearly named on this document as 
‘Leasingthorne Lane’.  

Historic Maps.  

Map of the County of Durham by John Cary 1820 (Document D). 

11 John Cary’s map was created for commercial purposes (like 
Greenwood below) and records most major highways as well as many 
minor roads. The village of Middlestone is shown as is the application 
route which runs south from it, it replicates the same orientation as on, 
the Dean and Chapter Survey.  

Christopher Greenwood 1820 (Extract from pictures in print website  
http://valentine.dur.ac.uk/pip/index.html 

12 This is a survey of the county undertaken by Map maker Christopher 
Greenwood between 1817 and 1819 for the purpose of compiling a 
County Atlas, that was to be sold on a commercial basis to the nobility, 
clergy and gentry.  It records most major highways as well as many 
minor roads. On this edition map the application route is very clearly 
depicted to the south of Middlestone village, it is depicted by two solid 
lines on either side of the route with a bold with black and white dash fill 
(Document E). 

1843 Tithe Plan and Apportionment Book (Documents F and G) 

13 The nineteenth century Tithe survey was undertaken pursuant to an Act 
of Parliament ‘The Tithe Commutation Act 1836’ for the purpose of 
recording land tenure, field systems, and land use. The 1843 Tithe Plan 
for Middlestone depicts the route, with no discernible change from the 
earlier Dean and Chapter Survey and Map surveys, it is numbered on 

Page 11



the Tithe Plan as plot 104– and described in the apportionment book as 
‘a Lane’ (Document G). 

   First Edition Ordnance Survey Map (DUL) Sheet XXVI.4: 1857 1st 
Edition OS 1:25” inch: (Document H) 

14 Ordnance Survey maps were produced pursuant to an 1841 Act of 
Parliament as an official survey of England and Wales. Ordnance 
Survey Maps cannot per se be used as evidence of a routes status 
but is evidence of the physical existence of a route. The application 
route is depicted with the same layout as shown on the Dean and 
Chapter Plan.  It is very clearly annotated with the name ‘Nanny Poes 
Lane’, the first time this name appears on a map, a change from the 
earlier Dean and Chapter ‘Leasingthorne Lane’. It is also recorded in 
the accompanying book of reference as – ‘204 -Nanny Poe’s Lane 
(public)’. 

First Edition Ordnance Survey: Document G 1861 1st Edition OS 
1:6” (Document I) 

15 The application route is shown on the same layout as the previous 
edition. However, the lane is not named on this edition map.  

Second Edition 1897 1:25”: (Document J) 

  16 The application remains unchanged as on previous maps. 

 Second Edition 1898 1-inch Ordnance Survey Map: (Document K) 

  17 No change to application route. 

 Inland Revenue Plan 1910: (Document L) 

  18 This plan was produced by the Valuation Office under the 1910 Finance 
Act for the purposes of land taxation. The application route is shown as 
a white road, meaning a public road which was not liable for a taxation.  

Third Edition 1915 Ordnance Survey (Document M) 

  19 The application route is shown again on the same orientation as 
previous edition maps. 

 Bartholomew Map 1920 (Document N) 

  20 Bartholomew were a Scottish Firm of mapmakers and created maps for 
academic purposes, but also commercial maps intended for travellers 
and cyclists. The application route is clearly unchanged on this edition, 
the map key classes the road as ‘intermediate’ and passable, third class 
road. 

Page 12



 Highways Handover Map 1930 (Document O and P) 

  21 Under the 1929 Local Government Act, which came into effect on 1 
April 1930 Rural District Councils (RDC’S) ceased to act as Highway’s 
authorities and all Highways (and public paths) passed to County 
Councils. This route is shaded blue, an unclassified country road at this 
period. Interestingly the accompanying notes state the name of the road 
as Leasingthorne to Middlestone, whilst the description calls it ‘Nanny 
Pop’ (perhaps confused with Nanny Pop Lonnen to the north of 
Middlestone), length 0.5mile, and width app 12ft, there was no 
expenditure on maintenance including the 5 years before the handover. 
This suggests the route was already little used at this period. 

 1939 Ordnance Survey (Document Q) 

  22 No change to the route, except that the parish boundary has been 
moved to eastern boundary of the lane, from its former position adjacent 
the line of Kirk Merrington Road (C113) to the south.   

 Selection of Photos of Nanny Poes lane  

  23  Taken by applicant Views South taken from North end Middlestone 
(Document R). 

  Views North taken from South end Leasingthorne (Document S). 

 

Assessment of the evidence 

24 The County Council, as Surveying Authority, has to make a decision in 
accordance with the case law and relevant legislation, in particular the 
provisions of the 1981 Act and the Human Rights Act 1998.  The only 
considerations that the Council can take account of are those that relate 
to whether the alleged public right of way is reasonably alleged to 
subsist.  It would be unlawful to consider issues such as the suitability 
or desirability of the routes subject of the application. 

 25 In this case it is considered that the most important pieces of evidence 
are the Dean and Chapter Plan of 1773 and the 1939 Highways 
Handover Map and index (Documents B and O). This Dean and 
Chapter Plan was an important part of a survey of the Church’s 
landholdings, the application route is named on this plan as 
‘Leasingthorne Lane’ and if it was not meant for the public use it is 
highly likely it would be annotated to state so. The route was a former 
highway that historically connected Middlestone Village to 
Leasingthorne and the Turnpike Highway (now the C113). The 1939 
Handover Map was used to show which Highways were maintainable at 

Page 13



public expense when transferring responsibility for Highways from the 
local Parish to Durham County Council. This demonstrates it was a 
public road, also there is no record available as to why the route later 
disappeared from the County Councils Adopted Highways list, and no 
evidence of a stopping up order. It is arguable that it was a mistake of 
the local authority at the time that it was left off the Definitive Map 
without any defined status. As legislation states the fact that a highway 
may have fallen into disrepair and/or disuse has no impact upon its 
status as highway (see below para 33). 

  26 Whilst the other map-based evidence is corroboratory, less weight must 
be afforded to these in accordance with Section 32 of the Highways Act 
as they were not produced for the purposes of showing the status of the 
route but for other purposes, such as taxation 

27 The inclusion of the route on the Dean and Chapter Plan, the lack of 
any formal stopping up order, and its former inclusion on Highway 
Handover Maps, taken together with subsequent map evidence is 
sufficient to demonstrate on the balance of probabilities that a Public 
Right of Way with at least Bridleway Rights is reasonably alleged to 
subsist over the route in question, no contrary evidence has been 
discovered. 

Legal Framework  

 28 Under the provisions of Section 53 of the Wildlife and Countryside 
Act1981, the County Council as Surveying Authority has a duty to keep 
the Definitive Map and Statement under review and is required to make 
a Modification Order under Section 53 (3)(c)(i) on the discovery by the 
authority of evidence which when considered with all other relevant 
evidence available to them shows that  a right of way which is not 
shown in the Map and Statement subsists, or is reasonably alleged to 
subsist over land in the area to which the map relates, being a right of 
way to which this part applies 

 29 The evidence in this case is documentary evidence provided by the 
applicant Mrs S. Gamble (who researches on behalf of the British Horse 
Society) and is based on advice contained in the book Rights of Way: 
Restoring the Record by Sarah Bucks and Phil Wadey and the County 
Council’s guidance document Applying for a Definitive map Modification 
Order.  

  30 Section 32 of the Highways Act 1980 deals with the consideration of 
documentary evidence when determining whether a highway has been 
dedicated. It allows for any maps, plans or history of a locality or other 
relevant document to be tendered in evidence and for appropriate 
weight to be placed on the document including the antiquity of the 
document, the status of the person by whom and the purpose for which 

Page 14



it was created and the source from which it has been stored and 
produced. 

 31 Once a highway comes into existence, it can only cease to be a 
highway in certain circumstances, such as by way of a formal stopping 
up procedure.  The fact that the highway may have fallen into disrepair 
and/or disuse has no impact upon its status as highway. 

 32 The Human Rights Act is of relevance. Whilst article 1 to the first 
protocol (peaceful enjoyment of property) and article 8 (right to respect 
for family, private life and home) are engaged, it is important to note that 
these rights are qualified, not absolute, which means that they can be 
interfered with in so far as such interference is in accordance with 
domestic law and is necessary in a democratic society for the protection 
of the rights and freedoms of others.  It is considered that any 
interference occasioned by the making of a Modification Order is both in 
accordance with domestic law (the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981) 
and is in the public interest as it is necessary in a democratic society for 
the protection of the rights and freedoms of others, namely the public 
who wish to use the way. 

 33 Should Members resolve in principle that a Modification Order be made 
in accordance with the above legislation, this is merely the start of the 
legal process. Once a Modification Order is made, it must be publicised, 
and the owners will have an opportunity to formally object to it. Should 
objections be received, the Modification Order would have to be 
referred to the Secretary of State who would usually hold a Public 
Inquiry before deciding upon whether or not to confirm the Modification 
Order. 

 

Main implications 

 34 If this route is added to the Definitive Map as a Public Bridleway, this 
does not create a new public right of way, it is merely a formal recording 
of what already exists. However, the County Council as Highway 
Authority will become responsible for the maintenance of the surface to 
a standard suitable for bridleway use only, shared with those having 
private rights of access 

Conclusion 

 35 On the basis of all available historical evidence, the route ‘Nanny Poes 
Lane’ is determined to be a Public Right of Way with user rights 
commensurate with at least Bridleway status. There is no evidence 
found that the route was stopped up, it is shown as unregistered land on 
the Land Registry and there is no challenge to public use, indeed it is 
assumed by many in the locality to all ready be a public right of way. 

Page 15



Adding the route to the Definitive Map is a rectification of the record.  
Therefore, a Definitive Map Modification Order should be made to 
record this route as a Public Bridleway. 

 

Author(s) 

Dagmar Richardson   Tel:  07768107032 

  

Page 16



Appendix 1:  Implications 

Legal Implications 

Text. 

Finance 

Council has a duty to maintain the surface of the route to Bridleway Standard. 

Consultation 

Landowners and User Groups, Parish Council  

Equality and Diversity / Public Sector Equality Duty 

N/A 

Climate Change 

N/A. 

Human Rights 

Para 32. 

Crime and Disorder 

Staffing 

N/A 

Accommodation 

N/A 

Risk 

Text. 

Procurement 

N/A. 

  

Page 17



Appendix 2:   

 

Page 18



Appendix 2

Definitive Map Modification Application

‘Nanny Poes Lane’, Middlestone, Bishop Auckland

(This document contains copies of images submitted with the 
original application, as well as new evidence, and better copies 
of application images).

Heading

P
age 19



B

A

Document A:   Extract of Definitive Map Application Route A - B

P
age 20



Document B:  

Extract of the 1773 Dean and Chapter 
Survey Plan of Middlestone

Application route shown and named here 
‘Leasingthorne Lane’
(image orientated North – South)

P
age 21



Document C: Extract from Dean and Chapter Survey Book 

P
age 22



Document D: Extract of John Cary Map 1820

P
age 23



Document E.  Greenwoods 1820 Map of County Durham

P
age 24



Document F:  Middlestone Tithe Map 1843

P
age 25



Document G: Extract from Tithe Apportionment Book 

P
age 26



Document H:  First 1857 Ordnance Survey 1:25” and 
Apportionment Book  Extract

P
age 27



Document I: 1861 Edition Map Ordnance Survey 1:6”

P
age 28



Document J: 1897 Second Edition 1:25inch 

P
age 29



Document K. 1898 1inch Ordnance Survey  

P
age 30



Document L:  1910 Inland Revenue Plan 

P
age 31



Document M: 1915 Ordnance Survey 

P
age 32



Document N: Bartholomew Map and Key1920

P
age 33



Document O: 1930 Highways Handover Map 

P
age 34



Document P: 1930 Handover Records

P
age 35



Document Q: 1939 
Ordnance Survey

P
age 36



Document R: Views From North end (Middlestone) looking South

P
age 37



Document S:Views from South end of route (Leasingthorne) 
looking North

P
age 38



APPENDIX 3 

Responses to Consultation  

Page 39



Access and Rights of Way Team, Neighbourhoods, Climate Change 
Durham County Council, County Hall, Durham DH1 5UQ 
Main Telephone 03000 260000  

 

 

   www.durham.gov.uk 
 

Contact: Dagmar Richardson/ Josephine Upchurch  

Direct Tel: 03000 265 340 / 265 341 

email: Dagmar.richardson@durham.gov.uk 

Josephine.upchurch@durham.gov.uk 

 

 

Our ref: NCC/SH/ROW/DR/7/18/024 

 

Consultation – Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 Proposed Amendment to the Definitive 

Map of Public Rights of Way at Middlestone (Ref: 7/18/024) 

 
An application was received by us in 2018 for a Definitive Map Modification Order from a Mrs S. 
Gamble to record a lane located in Middlestone formerly known as Nanny Poes Lane (or 
Leasingthorne Lane) as a Bridle Way (Please see attached plan). There is sufficient historic evidence 
that suggest the order would likely be approved. To clarify, a Bridleway is open to pedestrians, horses 
and pedal cyclists only.  
 
Under provisions of the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 the Council has a duty to keep the 
Definitive Map and Statement under continuous review and make appropriate modifications by order.  
 
I am currently seeking the your views as well as the Town Council, Landowners, and other user 
organisations (Open Spaces Society and Sustrans Uk etc) and will be pleased to include any 
comments you may wish to offer regarding the proposed modification to the Highways Committee.  A 
draft report will be composed and will incorporate any views, objections and additional evidence 
submitted by those in receipt of this consultation.    
 
It is likely that the Highways Committee will not review the claim mentioned above until August 
/September 2021. However, it would be appreciated that you submit your views, objections or 
additional evidence within 30 days of receipt of this mail or inform me if you would like more time to 
consider this matter.  
 
Please note that if you do make representations, then by virtue of the Local Government (Access 
to Information) Act 1985, the County Council must make these publicly available when a report on 
this application is considered by the Committee. 
 
If you have any queries or wish to discuss the matter, please contact me or my colleague.   
 
Your Sincerely  
 
Dagmar Richardson  
 
Definitive Map Officer  
Public Rights of Way - Mobile 07768 107032 
www.durham.gov.uk/prow - prow@durham.gov.uk 

Page 40

dagmar.richardson
Typewritten text
Consultation letter sent to all respondents



Application Route Between A and B  
 

A 

B 

Nanny Poe’s 7/18/024  

Application Route runs between A and B  

P
age 41



From:                                     
Sent:                                           23 June 2021 14:41
To:                                               Dagmar Richardson
Subject:                                     Your ref REAL/ST/AROW/DR/7/18/024
 
Follow Up Flag:                      Follow up
Flag Status:                              Completed
 

Dear Ms Richardson
 
With ref to your letter to me dated 2 June 2021 concerning the proposed amendment to the
definitive map of public rights of way (Ref 7/18/024).
 
I am in favour of this right of way being classified as a public bridleway.
 
Yours sincerely
 
Allan Blackett

 

Page 42



From:                                         Sylvia Briggs <
Sent:                                           03 June 2021 10:59
To:                                               Dagmar Richardson
Subject:                                     Re: Consultation regarding Definitive Map Applications at Middlestone County Durham .
 
Follow Up Flag:                      Follow up
Flag Status:                              Completed
 

Good Morning Dagmar
 
On behalf of the British Horse Society, I fully support the application for a bridleway for both of these routes.
 
It is quite obvious that both of these routes, Nanny Pop Lonnen and Nanny Poes Lane were Public Roads or
Ways and both are suitable to be used as Bridleways.
 

Regards

Sylvia

 

From: Dagmar Richardson <dagmar.richardson@durham.gov.uk>
Sent: 01 June 2021 17:54
To: Sylvia Briggs
Cc: Josephine Upchurch <josephine.upchurch@durham.gov.uk>; Mike Ogden <Mike.Ogden@durham.gov.uk>;
Owen Shaw <Owen.Shaw@durham.gov.uk>
Subject: Consultation regarding Definitive Map Applications at Middlestone County Durham .
 

Dear Sylvia,
 
Please see the attached letters regarding the route Nanny Poes Lane / Leasingthorne Lane and Nanny
Pop’s Lonnen / Spennymoor Lane Middlestone. These are  Sues I am sure you will know them, hope all
is well with you.
 
Kind Regards
 
Dagmar Richardson
 
Definitive Map Officer

Access & Rights of Way Team, Neighbourhoods and Climate Change
County Hall
Durham
DH1 5UQ
03000 265340 / Mobile 07768 107032
www.durham.gov.uk/prow
 Page 43

http://www.durham.gov.uk/prow


 
 

 
 

Customer Notice

We hav e recently updated our terms and conditions for all our serv ices, including making some important updates to our priv acy notices. To find
out more about how we collect, use, share and retain your personal data, v isit: www.durham.gov .uk/datapriv acy 

Help protect our environment by only printing this email if absolutely necessary. The information it contains and any fi les transmitted with it are

confidential and are only intended for the person or organisation to whom it is addressed. It may be unlawful for you to use, share or copy the

information, if you are not authorised to do so. If you receive this email by mistake, please inform the person who sent it at the above address and then

delete the email from your system. Durham County Council takes reasonable precautions to ensure that its emails are virus free. However, we do not

accept responsibil ity for any losses incurred as a result of viruses we might transmit and recommend that you should use your own virus checking

procedures.

Page 44

mailto:http://www.durham.gov.uk/CovidLFT
https://www.durham.gov.uk/dataprivacy


From:                                         Jo Bird 
Sent:                                           04 June 2021 12:09
To:                                               Dagmar Richardson
Subject:                                     Re: Consultation regarding Definitive Map Application at Middlestone County Durham
 

Many thanks.  Sorry to have been so fussy, but I wasn’t sure from the original plan.
Do hope both path applications get approved!
 
Best wishes
Jo
 
From: Dagmar Richardson
Sent: Friday, June 4, 2021 11:56 AM
To: Jo Bird
Subject: RE: Consultation regarding Definitive Map Application at Middlestone County Durham

 
Dear Jo ,
 

The whole of the claimed route is called Nanny Pop Lonnen , it was all also formerly known as
Spennymoor Lane and is already accessible and used by the public regularly. I have attached two
images, Points A- B arrowed , and a close up image so you can see where  point B is on the maps,
that  is the end of an unclassified road, indeed it ends approximately at the entrance to Hall Heads
Farm.
 

Kind Regards.  
 

Dagmar Richardson
 

Definitive Map Officer

Access & Rights of Way Team, Neighbourhoods and Climate Change
County Hall
Durham
DH1 5UQ
03000 265340 / Mobile 07768 107032
www.durham.gov.uk/prow
 
 
 

 

From: Jo Bird <
Sent: 04 June 2021 11:29
To: Dagmar Richardson <dagmar.richardson@durham.gov.uk>
Subject: Re: Consultation regarding Definitive Map Application at Middlestone County Durham

Page 45

http://www.durham.gov.uk/prow


This page is intentionally left blank



 

Highways Committee 

08 November 2021 

Definitive Map Modification Application 
to record the former road Nanny Pops 
Lonnen in Spennymoor as Public 
Bridleway 

 

 

Report of Alan Patrickson, Corporate Director of Neighbourhoods and 
Climate Change and Paul Darby, Corporate Director of Resources 

 

Electoral division(s) affected: 

Spennymoor, Middlestone. 

Purpose of the Report 

1 In this report the Highways Committee is asked to consider all the 
relevant evidence gathered in support of an application to modify the 
Definitive Map and Statement of Public Rights of Way to add a Public 
Bridleway over a way called ‘Nanny Pops Lonnen’. The route runs from 
a junction with South View Road Spennymoor, south to the A688, then 
continues on the south side of the A688, until it reaches the end of an 
unclassified road approximately opposite the entrance of Hall Heads 
Farm, Middlestone. (Document A).  

Executive summary 

2 The route starts on the North side of the A688 from a junction with 
South View Road, it runs south, until it meets the A688, it continues on 
the other side of the A688, southward towards Middlestone Village 
ending approximately adjacent to the access road of Hall Heads Farm; 
this point is also the end of an unclassified unnumbered road. It is 
between 3-4m in width approximately.  

3 The earliest depiction of the application route is on a survey of lands 
owned by the Dean and Chapter Estate where it is named ‘Spennymoor 
Lane’ which ran between a road called Salters Lane (approximate with 
current South View Road) and Middlestone Village. The road is shown 
on successive maps from the Dean and Chapter Survey, County Series 
of Christopher Greenwood continuing through to the numerous 
Ordnance Survey editions. By the 1930’s it was recorded on the 
Highways Handover Maps as a publicly maintainable country road. In 
1975-6 a small section of the road was stopped up (north side of A688). 

Page 47

Agenda Item 6



This basically restricted the width of the road at one point by the 
installation of Bollards, it appears this was to stop vehicular traffic 
crossing the soon to be built A688 Spennymoor Bypass, which dissects 
the route (Document D and E). The stopping up however did not close 
the road completely but restricted access for motor vehicles. Hence 
there is vehicular access to the allotment gardens on the section 
between South View Road and the A688, but not onto or from the A688. 
The south section of the application route is also not accessed by 
vehicles. The route is not currently on the Council maps of adopted 
highways nor is it recorded on the Definitive Map & Statement as a 
Public Right of Way.  

4 This application seeks to rectify the current record and the routes status 
by adding it to the Definitive Map and Statement as a Bridleway.   

5 A consultation on the proposed addition was carried out with letters of 
support from the local landowner, the Ramblers Association and the 
British Horse Society and Spennymoor Town Council (Appendix 2). 

Recommendation(s) 

6 It is recommended that the Committee agrees to making a Definitive 
Map Modification Order for the addition to the Definitive Map & 
Statement of a Bridleway between points A & B on the map, under the 
provisions of section 53(3)(c)(i) of the Wildlife and Countryside Act 
1981, and that the Corporate Director of Resources be informed 
accordingly. 

7 The Order shall subsequently be confirmed as an unopposed Order or 
referred to the Secretary of State for determination in the event of 
objections. 

 

Background 

8 An application was submitted by Ms Sue Gamble of the British Horse 
Society in September 2018 for the recording of bridleway rights over a 
route named locally as Nanny Pops Lonnen. 

9 The original application covered the route shown as A-B-C on 
Document A. The section B- C is an unclassified road and as such is 
recorded on the Highways Map, we do not usually seek to add 
unclassified roads to the Definitive Map as public rights already exist 
over such routes. The applicant agreed to drop this section from the 
original application.  

10 There was some confusion as to the current status of the route and it 
was initially thought the whole of the route may have been stopped up, 

Page 48



however it was discovered that a stopping up order applied in 1975 
affected a very small section of the route, probably to deter motor 
vehicles crossing the bypass in a north - south direction (Documents C 
and D). After confirming the stopping up order only applied to a small 
section, (probably 2m2) of the highway whilst still allowing pedestrian 
and cyclist access, it was therefore agreed to extend the application to 
cover this section, between South View Road and the A688. 

11 It is acknowledged that there may be some concern raised about users 
crossing of the A688, however there is a precedent for this as to the 
east Bridleway 58 does the very same thing, as well as Footpaths 
16,17,15, and 59 (Document B). Adding the small section of Nanny 
Pop Lonnen on the north side of the A688 would also allow users to 
access Bridleway 58 without using the verge of the Bypass, as noted by 
the BHS response.   

12 Consultees have included the Town Council and Local County 
Councillors, landowners and occupiers, user groups and organisations.  
No objections were made by any of the consultees and support has 
been expressed by the British Horse Society to the registration of such 
unrecorded routes. 

 

Documentary Evidence in support of the application 

1773 Dean and Chapter Survey DUL (DCD/E/AA/19/1-2), 
(Documents E and F). 

13 The Dean and Chapter is the formal title of the governing body of 
Durham Cathedral. The survey records the ecclesiastical estate. The 
application route is shown on a plan as a result of a survey undertaken 
in 1773, it covers Middlestone and surroundings, shows land allotments, 
highways and industrial structures like Kilns and Windmills etc. The 
application route is very clearly shown and named Spennymoor Lane 
meeting Salters Lane to the north (now South View). 

Historic Maps.  Greenwood 1820 (Pictures in Print Durham University 
http://valentine.dur.ac.uk/pip/index.html (Document G). 

14 This is a survey of the county undertaken by Christopher Greenwood 
between 1817 and 1819 for the purpose of compiling a County Atlas 
that was to be sold on a commercial basis, potential buyers were 
envisaged as the nobility, clergy and gentry, or those that had the 
means or necessity of travel. On this edition map Middlestone village is 
clearly depicted as is the application route, located to the north of the 
village, the route is depicted with two solid lines which joins another 
highway (Salters Lane, now South View) that runs east west  

Page 49



1843 Tithe Plan and Apportionment. (Documents H and I). 

15 This was a survey and plan undertaken pursuant to an Act of 
Parliament, the 1836 Tithe Commutation Act. Tithe commissioners 
conducted surveys detailing land, its ownership, occupation and use. 
which required tithes in kind to be converted to more convenient 
monetary payments called tithe rent charge. The 1838 Tithe Plan for 
Middlestone depicts the route on the same orientation as the Dean and 
Chapter Survey, it is numbered on the Tithe Plan as plot 37 – and 
described as ‘a Lane’ in the accompanying survey book. 

First Edition Ordnance Survey Map (DUL) Sheet XXVI.4: 

1857 1st Edition OS 1:25” (Document J) 

16 OS maps were produced pursuant to an Act of Parliament as an official 
survey of England and Wales. The survey’s recorded topographical 
features and are not a record of Public Rights. Originally produced 
under the Board of Ordnance to aid with military movements around the 
country in case of rebellion or war in the late 1700s. By the early 19th 
century, the expense of conducting the surveys and subsequent 
production of revised update editions meant producing maps that could 
be sold to the general public.  The revenue generated would help fund 
future revisions/ editions. It is suggested that historic documents, estate 
maps and plans as well as interviews with locals were used to identify, 
clarify and depict, through use of shading, different classifications of 
highways. However, there are no references that conclusively clarify 
this. 

17 The application route is depicted with the same layout as shown on the 
Dean and Chapter Plan and Tithe Plan, the plot is numbered 201 which 
is listed as a ‘Public Road’ in the accompanying Ordnance Survey book 
of reference. The lines delineating the road are solid and shaded 
heavier on the east side, according to the Map Key this is an annotation 
device used to denote either 1st or 2nd class roads.   

 

 Second Edition Ordnance Survey: 1897 2nd Edition OS 1:25” 
(Document K) 

18 The application route has maintained the same layout as previous 
edition’s surveys. The major change to the immediate vicinity is the 
Binchester Colliery Railway which crosses the route, midway (east -
west), and a small row of houses called ‘Burn Cottages’ lying 
immediately south of the new railway. The cottages front directly onto 
the application route before it crosses the railway. 

Page 50



Inland Revenue Plan 1910: (Document L) 

19 This plan was produced by the Valuation Officer under the Finance Act 
1910 (abolished in 1920) for the purposes of land taxation. Landowners 
could claim tax relief in respect of land crossed by a highway. “The 
1910 Act required all land to be valued, but routes shown on the base 
plans which correspond to known public highways, usually vehicular, 
are not normally shown as included in the hereditaments, i.e., they will 
be shown uncoloured and unnumbered. It is possible, but by no means 
certain, that this is related to s.35(1) of the Act: No duty under this part 
of the Act shall be charged in respect of any land or interest in land held 
by or on behalf of a rating authority. The practice would also be 
compatible with s.25(3) which states that the total value of land means 
the gross value after deducting the amount by which the gross value 
would be diminished if the land were sold subject to… any public rights 
of way. So, if a route in dispute is external to any numbered 
hereditament, there is a strong possibility that it was considered a public 
highway, normally but not necessarily vehicular, since footpaths and 
bridleways were usually dealt with by deductions recorded in the forms 
and Field Books; however, there may be other reasons to explain its 
exclusion”.  

20 The application route is shown as a ‘white road’ (uncoloured/shaded) 
meaning it was considered a public road which was not liable to tax 
(The yellow shading on this image represents the parish boundary). 

Ordnance Survey 1920 Edition (Document M) 

21 This edition Ordnance survey map shows no change to the application 
route from previous survey.  

 Bartholomew Map 1920 (Document N) 

22 Route clearly shown, no change from previous editions. 

 Highway Handover Map and Notes 1930 (Documents O and P)  

23 This was produced as a record of Highways maintained by public 
expense when responsibility was shifted to the County Council from 
local Parishes. The route is clearly shown coloured blue with no change 
from previous maps, the accompanying notes call it ‘Middlestone to 
Middlestone Moor’, its width is noted 13ft and the surface recorded as 
‘Waterbound’. 

  

Page 51



Ordnance Survey 1939 (Document Q) 

24 The application route has undergone no changes and remains as on 
previous edition.  

   1975 Ministry of Transport Extract of Stopping Up Schedule and 
Plan (Documents C and D) 

25 This Map shows the sections of Road(s) and Rights of Way which were 
going to be ‘stopped up’ to facilitate the building of the Spennymoor 
Western Bypass, A688, also shown dissecting the route. The plan 
shows Nanny Pops Lonnen, located immediately to the east of the 
North symbol, the small area to be stopped up is numbered 4 on the 
plan, the location of a Bollard is also arrowed (north side of new road). 
The key to the plan shows roads to be stopped up are annotated with a 
’Zebra’ stripe’. It is clear from the plans that this was applied to one 
small area. The full text document sets out the details (Appendix 4).  

 Photo Images of Route (Documents R and S) 

26 Looking at route on southern section, looking South from A688 
(Document R).  

27 Looking South towards Middlestone, Hall Heads Farm (Document S). 

28 Looking South from South View Road towards stopped up section 
(Document T). 

29 Looking towards A688, and back up towards South View Road 
(Document U). 

  

   

 Assessment of the evidence 

30 The County Council, as Surveying Authority, has to make a decision in 
accordance with the case law and relevant legislation, in particular the 
provisions of the 1981 Act and the Human Rights Act 1998.  The only 
considerations that the Council can take account of are those that relate 
to whether the alleged public right of way is reasonably alleged to 
subsist.  It would be unlawful to consider issues such as the suitability 
or desirability of the routes subject of the application. 

31 In this case it is considered that the most important piece of evidence is 
the Ministry of Transport 1975 stopping up plan and documents 
(Documents C and D).  The document demonstrate that the route is 
still a public highway, which it has been since at least the eighteenth 

Page 52



century (possibly longer). Only a tiny section of the route was stopped 
up probably to restrict vehicular access across the A688. Section 67 of 
the Natural Environment and Rural Communities Act 2006 is to 
extinguish public motor vehicular rights over unrecorded ways (or those 
recorded only as footpaths, bridleways or restricted byways) unless an 
exception applies as of 2 May 2006.   As the route was not shown on 
the List of Streets or adopted highways map prior to and up to 2006 
motor vehicles (except for those with access rights) are no longer able 
to use it, however all other rights remain. 

32 Whilst the other map-based evidence is corroboratory, less weight must 
be afforded to these in accordance with Section 32 of the Highways Act 
as they were not produced for the purposes of showing the status of the 
route but for other purposes, such as taxation. 

33 That the route was never ‘stopped up’ taken together with the previous 
map evidence, is sufficient to demonstrate on the balance of 
probabilities that the route should now be recorded as a Public Right of 
Way with at least Bridleway status.  No contrary evidence has been 
discovered 

 

Legal Framework  

34 Under the provisions of Section 53 of the Wildlife and Countryside Act 
1981, the County Council as Surveying Authority has a duty to keep the 
Definitive Map and Statement under review and is required to make a 
Modification Order under Section 53 (3)(c)(i) on the discovery by the 
authority of evidence which when considered with all other relevant 
evidence available to them shows that a right of way which is not shown 
in the Map and Statement subsists, or is reasonably alleged to subsist 
over land in the area to which the map relates, being a right of way to 
which this part applies. 

35 The evidence in this case is documentary evidence provided by the 
applicant Mrs S. Gamble (who researches on behalf of the British Horse 
Society) and is based on advice contained in the book Rights of Way: 
Restoring the Record by Sarah Bucks and Phil Wadey and the County 
Council’s guidance document Applying for a Definitive Map Modification 
Order.  

36 Section 32 of the Highways Act 1980 deals with the consideration of 
documentary evidence when determining whether a highway has been 
dedicated. It allows for any maps, plans or history of a locality or other 
relevant document to be tendered in evidence and for appropriate 
weight to be placed on the document including the antiquity of the 
document, the status of the person by whom and the purpose for which 

Page 53



it was created and the source from which it has been stored and 
produced. 

37 Once a highway comes into existence, it can only cease to be a 
highway in certain circumstances, such as by way of a formal stopping 
up procedure.  The fact that the highway may have fallen into disrepair 
and/or disuse has no impact upon its status as highway. 

38 The Human Rights Act is of relevance. Whilst article 1 to the first 
protocol (peaceful enjoyment of property) and article 8 (right to respect 
for family, private life and home) are engaged, it is important to note that 
these rights are qualified, not absolute, which means that they can be 
interfered with in so far as such interference is in accordance with 
domestic law and is necessary in a democratic society for the protection 
of the rights and freedoms of others.  It is considered that any 
interference occasioned by the making of a Modification Order is both in 
accordance with domestic law (the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981) 
and is in the public interest as it is necessary in a democratic society for 
the protection of the rights and freedoms of others, namely the public 
who wish to use the way. 

39 Should Members resolve in principle that a Modification Order be made 
in accordance with the above legislation, this is merely the start of the 
legal process. Once a Modification Order is made, it must be publicised, 
and the owners will have an opportunity to formally object to it. Should 
objections be received, the Modification Order would have to be 
referred to the Secretary of State who would usually hold a Public 
Inquiry before deciding upon whether or not to confirm the Modification 
Order. 

Conclusion 

40 The evidence submitted shows the application route is a former 
Highway and whilst no longer a route used for motor vehicles the public 
still have rights of use at the least commensurate with those of 
Bridleway status. It is arguable that recording the route on the Definitive 
Map and Statement is merely a rectification the record. Therefore, it is 
recommended that a Definitive Map Modification Order is made to add 
the route to the Definitive Map and Statement as a Public Bridleway.  

 

Other useful documents 

Appendix 2 Documentary Evidence  

Appendix 3 Response to Consultation 

Page 54



Appendix 4 1975 Copy of Stopping up Order 

Author(s) 

[Dagmar Richardson]   Tel:  03000 265340 

  

Page 55



Appendix 1:  Implications 

Legal Implications 

Text. 

Finance 

Text. 

Consultation 

Text. 

Equality and Diversity / Public Sector Equality Duty 

Text. 

Climate Change 

N/A 

Human Rights 

Text. 

Crime and Disorder 

Text. 

Staffing 

Text. 

Accommodation 

N/A 

Risk 

Text. 

Procurement 

N/A 

  

Page 56



Appendix 2:   Document 2 Applicants Evidence  

 

Page 57



This page is intentionally left blank



Heading

Appendix 2

Evidence For Definitive Map Application 
‘Nanny Pop’s Lonnen’, Middlestone, 
Spennymoor County Durham.

(This document contains copies of images submitted with 
the original application, as well as extra evidence images). 

P
age 59



Document A: Location of Application Route 

P
age 60



Document B: Extract from Definitive Map showing Current PROW in Vicinity

P
age 61



Document C:
Extract of 1975 Schedule of 
Stopping up Order

No.4 refers to Nanny Pop 
Lonnen.

No.2 Highways to be improved 
Nanny Pop Lonnen

(See Appendix 4 Full 
Schedule).

P
age 62



Document D:   1975 Plans showing Stopping Up Sections and Key, 

1:Small section on North side of new 
A688 stopped up, and location of a 
Bollard.
2:Section crossing new highway not 
stopped up                                     
3: Junction improved.                     

1

2

3P
age 63



Document E
Dean and Chapter Survey 
1773 ( DCD/E/AA/19/1-2

Route named ‘Spennymoor 
Lane’ (joined Salter’s Lane at 
this period ).

P
age 64



Document F: Extract From Dean and Chapter Survey Book 1793

P
age 65



Document G: Greenwood Map 1820

P
age 66



Document H: Tithe Map (Blue line Parish Boundary)

P
age 67



Document I:
Middlestone Tithe Apportionment 
Nanny Pops Lonnen is plot 37, 
Recorded as Lane 

P
age 68



Document J:  1857 OS County Series 1:2,500 (25 inch) map www.old-maps.co.uk  
Auckland St Andrew  (DUL) DHC 11/II/1/4 (DCRO) D/Br/X6 

P
age 69



Document K :
Extract From 2nd Edition 1897 25”

P
age 70



Document L: Extract of 1910 Insurance Plan 

There were no allowances in the accompanying 
reference book as it was a public road. 

P
age 71



Document M:
1920 25” Ordnance 
Survey 

P
age 72



Document N: Bartholomew Map 1920 

P
age 73



Document O: Route on Extract from 1930 Handover Map, coloured blue ‘Country Road’. 

P
age 74



Document P: Highways Handover Notes 

P
age 75



Document Q:  1939 Ordnance Survey 

P
age 76



Document R: Photo Images of the Route Looking South From A688

P
age 77



Document S: Looking South Towards Middlestone and Hall Heads Farm

P
age 78



Document T:  Images of route from South View Road toward A688

Bollards at small stopping up 
point, wide enough for Cyclist or 
Riders to pass safely.  From South View Road 

Towards A688

Section of route leading to A688

P
age 79



Looking from Bollards, 
across A688 and then 
South section of route 
to Hall Heads Farm 

Looking North back towards Bollards 
(South View Road) 

Looking towards South View Road Up 
North section of Nanny Pops Lonnen

Document U: Views of Route

P
age 80



APPENDIX 3 

Responses to Consultation  

Page 81



Access and Rights of Way Team, Neighbourhoods, Climate Change 
Durham County Council, County Hall, Durham DH1 5UQ 
Main Telephone 03000 260000  

 

 

   www.durham.gov.uk 
 

Contact: Dagmar Richardson/ Josephine Upchurch  

Direct Tel: 03000 265 340 / 265 341 

email: Dagmar.richardson@durham.gov.uk 

Josephine.upchurch@durham.gov.uk 

 

 

Our ref: NCC/SH/ROW/DR/7/18/026 

 

Consultation – Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 Proposed Amendment to the Definitive 

Map of Public Rights of Way at Middlestone (Ref: 7/18/026) 

 
An application was received by us in 2018 for a Definitive Map Modification Order from a Mrs S. 
Gamble to record an old lane located in Middlestone formerly known as Nanny Pops Lonnen (or 
Spennymoor Lane) as a Bridle Way (Please see attached plan). There is sufficient historic evidence 
that suggest the order would likely be approved. To clarify, a Bridleway is open to pedestrians, horses 
and pedal cyclists only.  
 
Under provisions of the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 the Council has a duty to keep the 
Definitive Map and Statement under continuous review and make appropriate modifications by order.  
 
I am currently seeking the your views as well as the Town Council, and user organisations (BHS, 
Ramblers and Sustrans etc) and will be pleased to include any comments you may wish to offer 
regarding the proposed modification to the Highways Committee.  A draft report will be composed 
and will incorporate any views, objections and additional evidence submitted by those in receipt of 
this consultation.    
 
It is likely that the Highways Committee will not review the claim mentioned above until August 
/September 2021. However, it would be appreciated that you submit your views, objections or 
additional evidence within 30 days of receipt of this mail or inform me if you would like more time to 
consider this matter.  
 
Please note that if you do make representations, then by virtue of the Local Government (Access 
to Information) Act 1985, the County Council must make these publicly available when a report on 
this application is considered by the Committee. 
 
If you have any queries or wish to discuss the matter, please contact me or my colleague.   
 
Your Sincerely  
 
Dagmar Richardson  
 
Definitive Map Officer  

Page 82

dagmar.richardson_1
Typewritten text
                 Copy of Consultation Letter sent to all 

dagmar.richardson_2
Typewritten text
respondents



 

 

A 

B 

Nanny Pops Lonnen 7/18/026, Application Route between A and B  

Road below point B 

arrow is unclassified 

Country Road and 

open to all.  

A 

B 

P
age 83



From:                                  
Sent:                                           09 June 2021 11:18
To:                                               Dagmar Richardson
Subject:                                     Proposed amendment to definitive map at Middlestone (ref. 7/18/026)
 
Follow Up Flag:                      Follow up
Flag Status:                              Completed
 

Dear Ms. Richardson
 
Your ref NCC/SH/ROW/DR/7/18/026
 
Reference your letter to me dated 2 June 2021 concerning the proposed amendment to the
definitive map at Middlestone. 
 
We are in favour of this change to the lane being classified as a bridleway and have in fact
ridden our horses down that lane for the last 30 years.
 
Yours sincerely
 
A Blackett
Hall Heads Farm
Middlestone
DL14 8AQ

Page 84



From:                                     
Sent:                                           01 June 2021 18:10
To:                                               Dagmar Richardson
Subject:                                     Re: Consultation Notice - Application to Modify the Definitive Map 2 Routes at Middlestone.
 
Follow Up Flag:                      Follow up
Flag Status:                              Completed
 
I am in favour of these changes 

------ Original Message ------
On Tuesday, 1 Jun, 21 At 17:54, Dagmar Richardson<dagmar.richardson@durham.gov.uk> wrote:

 Dear Mr Hardaker,
 
Please see the attached consultation letters with attached maps regarding Definitive Map applications
for two routes located at Middlestone County Durham.
 
Kind Regards
 
Dagmar Richardson
 
Definitive Map Officer

Access & Rights of Way Team, Neighbourhoods and Climate Change
County Hall
Durham
DH1 5UQ
03000 265340 / Mobile 07768 107032
www.durham.gov.uk/prow
 
 
 

 
 

Customer Notice

We hav e recently updated our terms and conditions for all our serv ices, including making some important updates to our priv acy notices. To find
out more about how we collect, use, share and retain your personal data, v isit: www.durham.gov .uk/datapriv acy 

Help protect our environment by only printing this email if absolutely necessary. The information it contains and any fi les transmitted with it are

confidential and are only intended for the person or organisation to whom it is addressed. It may be unlawful for you to use, share or copy the

information, if you are not authorised to do so. If you receive this email by mistake, please inform the person who sent it at the above address and then

delete the email from your system. Durham County Council takes reasonable precautions to ensure that its emails are virus free. However, we do not

accept responsibil ity for any losses incurred as a result of viruses we might transmit and recommend that you should use your own virus checking

procedures.

Page 85

http://www.durham.gov.uk/prow
mailto:http://www.durham.gov.uk/CovidLFT
https://www.durham.gov.uk/dataprivacy


From:                                     
Sent:                                           03 June 2021 10:59
To:                                               Dagmar Richardson
Subject:                                     Re: Consultation regarding Definitive Map Applications at Middlestone County Durham .
 
Follow Up Flag:                      Follow up
Flag Status:                              Completed
 

Good Morning Dagmar
 
On behalf of the British Horse Society, I fully support the application for a bridleway for both of these routes.
 
It is quite obvious that both of these routes, Nanny Pop Lonnen and Nanny Poes Lane were Public Roads or
Ways and both are suitable to be used as Bridleways.
 

Regards

Sylvia

 

From: Dagmar Richardson <dagmar.richardson@durham.gov.uk>
Sent: 01 June 2021 17:54
To: Sylvia Brigg
Cc: Josephine Upchurch <josephine.upchurch@durham.gov.uk>; Mike Ogden <Mike.Ogden@durham.gov.uk>;
Owen Shaw <Owen.Shaw@durham.gov.uk>
Subject: Consultation regarding Definitive Map Applications at Middlestone County Durham .
 

Dear Sylvia,
 
Please see the attached letters regarding the route Nanny Poes Lane / Leasingthorne Lane and Nanny
Pop’s Lonnen / Spennymoor Lane Middlestone. These are  Sues I am sure you will know them, hope all
is well with you.
 
Kind Regards
 
Dagmar Richardson
 
Definitive Map Officer

Access & Rights of Way Team, Neighbourhoods and Climate Change
County Hall
Durham
DH1 5UQ
03000 265340 / Mobile 07768 107032
www.durham.gov.uk/prow
 Page 86

http://www.durham.gov.uk/prow


 
 

 
 

Customer Notice

We hav e recently updated our terms and conditions for all our serv ices, including making some important updates to our priv acy notices. To find
out more about how we collect, use, share and retain your personal data, v isit: www.durham.gov .uk/datapriv acy 

Help protect our environment by only printing this email if absolutely necessary. The information it contains and any fi les transmitted with it are

confidential and are only intended for the person or organisation to whom it is addressed. It may be unlawful for you to use, share or copy the

information, if you are not authorised to do so. If you receive this email by mistake, please inform the person who sent it at the above address and then

delete the email from your system. Durham County Council takes reasonable precautions to ensure that its emails are virus free. However, we do not

accept responsibil ity for any losses incurred as a result of viruses we might transmit and recommend that you should use your own virus checking

procedures.

• • w ' - / - « 
NHS ll • • r. . ,, ". e and face 

I 1.!! 

j • 
+; -« 

44 

.... , 
Now we can all get free rapid Covid-19 
tests to help protect each other. 

Page 87

mailto:http://www.durham.gov.uk/CovidLFT
https://www.durham.gov.uk/dataprivacy


From:                                         Jo Bird 
Sent:                                           04 June 2021 12:09
To:                                               Dagmar Richardson
Subject:                                     Re: Consultation regarding Definitive Map Application at Middlestone County Durham
 

Many thanks.  Sorry to have been so fussy, but I wasn’t sure from the original plan.
Do hope both path applications get approved!
 
Best wishes
Jo
 
From: Dagmar Richardson
Sent: Friday, June 4, 2021 11:56 AM
To: Jo Bird
Subject: RE: Consultation regarding Definitive Map Application at Middlestone County Durham

 
Dear Jo ,
 

The whole of the claimed route is called Nanny Pop Lonnen , it was all also formerly known as
Spennymoor Lane and is already accessible and used by the public regularly. I have attached two
images, Points A- B arrowed , and a close up image so you can see where  point B is on the maps,
that  is the end of an unclassified road, indeed it ends approximately at the entrance to Hall Heads
Farm.
 

Kind Regards.  
 

Dagmar Richardson
 

Definitive Map Officer

Access & Rights of Way Team, Neighbourhoods and Climate Change
County Hall
Durham
DH1 5UQ
03000 265340 / Mobile 07768 107032
www.durham.gov.uk/prow
 
 
 

 

From: Jo Bird <
Sent: 04 June 2021 11:29
To: Dagmar Richardson <dagmar.richardson@durham.gov.uk>
Subject: Re: Consultation regarding Definitive Map Application at Middlestone County Durham

• # • vwp ' • ll '1 ., S NHS 8 
,Jes2Mg«e tM 

l • •• r 
if 

. : ,.,, ..... � ·"' 
l•' > lak♦ tt,;o ,,., t >1"1> u_!!i. COYID•l9TU11 ✓ /CET-JUftl) 

ow we can all g 
ts to help prot 

Page 88

http://www.durham.gov.uk/prow


 

Access and Rights of Way Team, Neighbourhoods, Climate Change 

Durham County Council, County Hall, Durham DH1 5UQ 

Main Telephone 03000 260000  

 

 

   www.durham.gov.uk 
 

Contact: Dagmar Richardson/ Josephine Upchurch  

Direct Tel: 03000 265 340 / 265 341 

              Our Ref: NCC/SH/ROW/DR/7/18/026 

 
 
 
 
Spennymoor Town Council 
Councillor Fletcher 
Town Hall Buildings 
 High Street 
 Spennymoor 
 County Durham 
 DL16 6DG 
       

         20 August 2021 
Dear Councillor,                                                                                                          

          

Consultation – Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 Proposed Amendment to the Definitive 

Map of Public Rights of Way at Middlestone (Ref: 7/18/026) 

 
I wrote to you in June about an application to modify the Definitive Map from a Mrs S. Gamble to 
record a lane located in Middlestone known locally as Nanny Pops Lonnen (or Spennymoor Lane) 
as a Bridle Way. Since you were previously consulted new information was discovered which will go 
into the report. This information shows the application route Nanny Pops Lonnen extends to the north 
side of the A688, and this section will be included in the application for Bridleway Status (See 
attached plan). There is sufficient historic evidence that suggest the order would likely be approved. 
To clarify, a Bridleway is open to pedestrians, horses and pedal cyclists only.  
 
Under provisions of the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 the Council has a duty to keep the 
Definitive Map and Statement under continuous review and make appropriate modifications by order.  
 
I am currently seeking the your views as a member of the Town Council, Landowners, and user 
organisations (BHS and Sustrans etc) and will be pleased to include any comments you may wish 
to offer regarding the proposed modification to the Highways Committee.  A draft report will be 
composed and will incorporate any views, objections and additional evidence submitted by those in 
receipt of this consultation.    
 
It is likely that the Highways Committee will not review the claim mentioned above until September 
2021 (date to be arranged). However, it would be appreciated that you submit your views, objections 
or additional evidence within 14 days of receipt of this mail or inform me if you would like more time 
to consider this matter.  
 
Please note that if you do make representations, then by virtue of the Local Government (Access 
to Information) Act 1985, the County Council must make these publicly available when a report on 
this application is considered by the Committee. 
If you have any queries or wish to discuss the matter, please contact me or my colleague.   
 
Your Sincerely,  
 
Dagmar Richardson. 
 

Page 89



 

Northern of Section Nanny Pops Lonnen to be included in Bridleway Application Report circled   

Southern Section 

Continues to Hall 

Heads Farm  

Southern Section 

continues to Hall Heads 

Farm 

P
age 90



From: Dagmar Richardson <dagmar.richardson@durham.gov.uk> 
Sent: 20 August 2021 14:58
To: Katherine Hierons >
Cc: Josephine Upchurch <josephine.upchurch@durham.gov.uk>; Mike Ogden <Mike.Ogden@durham.gov.uk>
Subject: Consultation Nanny Pops Lonnen (Ref 7/18/026)
 

Dear Katherine ,
Since I last contacted you concerning consultation about the application to add the route ‘Nanny Pops
Lonnen’ (Ref 7/18/026) new evidence has been discovered and we are now seeking to add the
Northern section of the route which connects to South View Road, please see attached Map. Please
respond within14 days of receipt of this email (Formal Consultation Letter attached).
 
Kind Regards
 
Dagmar Richardson
 
Definitive Map Officer

Access & Rights of Way Team, Neighbourhoods and Climate Change

County Hall
Durham
DH1 5UQ
03000 265340 / Mobile 07768 107032
www.durham.gov.uk/prow
 
 
 

 
 

Customer Notice

We hav e recently updated our terms and conditions for all our serv ices, including making some important updates to our priv acy notices. To find
out more about how we collect, use, share and retain your personal data, v isit: www.durham.gov .uk/datapriv acy 

Help protect our environment by only printing this email if absolutely necessary. The information it contains and any fi les transmitted with it are

confidential and are only intended for the person or organisation to whom it is addressed. It may be unlawful for you to use, share or copy the

information, if you are not authorised to do so. If you receive this email by mistake, please inform the person who sent it at the above address and then

delete the email from your system. Durham County Council takes reasonable precautions to ensure that its emails are virus free. However, we do not

accept responsibil ity for any losses incurred as a result of viruses we might transmit and recommend that you should use your own virus checking

procedures.

• C ' . - ll / • NHS 8 r. S ,reg«e tM 
• 

ow we can all get free rapi 
ts to help protect each ot gy+ 

' 

. : ,.,, ..... � ·"' 
l•' > lak♦ thio ,,.,, >1"1> u�. COYID•l9TU11✓ /CET-fUTU) 

Page 91

http://www.durham.gov.uk/prow
mailto:http://www.durham.gov.uk/CovidLFT
https://www.durham.gov.uk/dataprivacy


From:                                         Katherine Hierons 
Sent:                                           08 September 2021 08:13
To:                                               Dagmar Richardson
Cc:                                               Josephine Upchurch; Mike Ogden
Subject:                                     RE: Consultation Nanny Pops Lonnen (Ref 7/18/026)
 
Follow Up Flag:                      Follow up
Flag Status:                              Completed
 
Good morning Dagmar
 
The Council had no comments on the proposals.  Thank you.
 
Kind regards 
 

Katherine  �
 
 

 
 
 

Katherine Hierons MBA, LLB, PG Dip, CiLCA
Town Clerk
Spennymoor Town Council
 

   https://www.facebook.com/SpennymoorTownCouncil/        

   https://twitter.com/SpennymoorTC       
 

   https://www.spennymoor-tc.gov.uk/                                 
 

                    

                                                         

       

 
 
 
Help protect our environment by only printing this email if absolutely necessary. The information it contains and any files
transmitted with it are confidential and are only intended for the person or organisation to whom it is addressed. It may be
unlawful for you to use, share or copy the information, if you are not authorised to do so. If you receive this email by mistake,
please inform the person who sent it at the above address and then delete the email from your system. Spennymoor Town Council
takes reasonable precautions to ensure that its emails are virus free. However, we do not accept responsibility for any losses
incurred as a result of viruses we might transmit and recommend that you should use your own virus checking procedures

 
 
 

(a  
n
Cl _ 
•--- 
t SPENNYMOOR 

r 0wN COUNCIL 

EE disability 
EE confidenit 

COMMITTED 

Page 92

https://www.facebook.com/SpennymoorTownCouncil/
https://twitter.com/SpennymoorTC
https://www.spennymoor-tc.gov.uk/


From:                                         Sylvia Briggs 
Sent:                                           20 August 2021 12:10
To:                                               Dagmar Richardson
Cc:                                               Josephine Upchurch
Subject:                                     Re: Nanny Pops Lonnen
 
Please see below my response, hope this is ok.  
 
Dear Dagmar 
 
On behalf of the British Horse Society, I would agree that it would be in the interest of users to Nanny Pops Lonnen
to have the route extended to the North side of the A688 to meet with South View.  
This gives users the option to cross over the A688 and continue on their way rather than just joining the A road.
 Much safer to cross rather than ride alongside the traffic.
 
Regards 
 
Sylvia Briggs
BHS Access officer Durham 
 
 
Get Outlook for iOS

From: Dagmar Richardson <dagmar.richardson@durham.gov.uk>
Sent: Thursday, August 19, 2021 15:46
To: Sylvia Briggs
Cc: Josephine Upchurch
Subject: Nanny Pops Lonnen
 

Dear Sylvia,
 
I know I have previously consulted you on this route but as I am changing the extent of the application I
need to hear your views.
New evidence was discovered suggesting the route had been stopped up, however bizarre as this may
sound all that was stopped was a small section app 2 x 2 m square on the north side of the A688, and a
bollard placed there. This seems to have been  (and this is speculation) to stop vehicular traffic crossing
the A688. Enough room was left for public passage, so the application is going to include the full
section of Nanny Pops on North side up to the point where is meets South View. Can you get back to
me within two weeks with a formal response.
 
Many Thanks
 
Dagmar Richardson
 

Definitive Map Officer
Access & Rights of Way Team, Neighbourhoods and Climate Change

County Hall
Durham
DH1 5UQ
03000 265340 / Mobile 07768 107032
www.durham.gov.uk/prow
 
 
 

Page 93

https://aka.ms/o0ukef
http://www.durham.gov.uk/prow


 
 

Customer Notice

We hav e recently updated our terms and conditions for all our serv ices, including making some important updates to our priv acy notices. To find
out more about how we collect, use, share and retain your personal data, v isit: www.durham.gov .uk/datapriv acy 

Help protect our environment by only printing this email if absolutely necessary. The information it contains and any fi les transmitted with it are

confidential and are only intended for the person or organisation to whom it is addressed. It may be unlawful for you to use, share or copy the

information, if you are not authorised to do so. If you receive this email by mistake, please inform the person who sent it at the above address and then

delete the email from your system. Durham County Council takes reasonable precautions to ensure that its emails are virus free. However, we do not

accept responsibil ity for any losses incurred as a result of viruses we might transmit and recommend that you should use your own virus checking

procedures.

Now we can all get free rapid Covid-19 
tests to help protect each other. 

. a. 
NHS 3.$ hie 

" "ii if ti@Gr bi F iii 1\i 
y ' , 

. 
I: 

FREE,RAPI� 

S"' 

l••·• ••••!hi>,,.,, >l"I> u_!!1t. COYID·19TU11✓ /CET-fUTU> 

Page 94

mailto:http://www.durham.gov.uk/CovidLFT
https://www.durham.gov.uk/dataprivacy


Appendix 4 

The Spennymoor Western Link Road 

Scheme, Stopping Up Order 1975 

Page 95



t 

cu 40 

Archives Registry 
... 

DEPOSITED DOCUMENT 
Archives Deposit No :� .. �-;· ·:···� ... H .. X1· �.�·c.j /9.l�. -- - - ... 
File No .:P.N J :,.J.J..'..1-.L/.-J ········· ··· ··· ········ · · 
Description . 

Date of document �J../ .e../.1.q7:,[__··· . 
NOTE deposited documents must be returned to Archives Registry 

j immediately they are no longer required 

DOE 10277 

Deposit in Strans Room for Signed Order 

sn, ssg;//¢ 
i..e DN.....·......4.'/.2... 

trans Roem Registrar 
Rocm 1/90 
St Christopher House 

I enclose herewith the Signed Order and Plan for deposit 
in the Strong Room together'with copies of Press Notices, 

Please forward a receipt in due course to this Division. 

for Regional Controller 
(Roads and Transportation) 
Northern 
f. tens 

Page 96



• 

Ton and Country Planning _Aet 19271 
THE SPENNYMOOR WESTERN LINK ROAD SCIENE 

(STOP-IG UP) QRDLR 197% 

The Secretary of State for the Environment makes this Order in exercise of his 
powere under section 211 of the Town and Country Planning Aot 1971, and of all other 
enabling powers;-- 

1, The Secretary of State, to whom it appears expedient to do so in the interests of 
the safety of users of the main highways or to facilitate the movement of traffic on 
those highways, hereby authorises the Counoil to stop up highways as shown (in the 
manner specified in Article hereof) in the Schedules numbered 1 and 2 to this Order 
and on the similarly numbered site plans, 

2. The Council shall also, in connection with the stopping up of highways under 
Article 1 of this Order, provide new highways and improve existing highways as shon 
(in manner aforesaid) in the said Schedulos and on the site plans, 

3, (1) he highways to whioh this Order relates are shown in the Schedules to this 
Order in the following manner (eaoh Sohedule naming at the head thoreof the locality 
in wich the highways referred to therein are or will be situated, and bearing the 
title of its related site plan): 

(e) the main highway is named, 

(b) lengths of hignay to be stopped up are described (all dist:noes stated 
being approximate only), 

(c) highways to be improved are named, 

(d) each new highway to be provided is indicated by the statement in the relevant 
Schedule of the referonoe letter given to that new hichway on the site plan 

whioh shows the route along which it is to be constructed and where a new 
highway is to be provided in connection with the stopping up of a length of 
highway described in a Schedule, its reference letter is placed opposite to 
that name or desoription in that Sohedule, 

and eaoh now highway to be provided pursuant to this rder ehall be a road, 

(2) The highways to which this Order relat s are shown on tho site plans in tho 
following manner (each site plan showing the highways referred to in one Schedule to 
this Order and having the same number as the Sohedule to which it refers): 

(a) the relevant lengths of main highway are shown by black lines; 

(b) lengths of highway to be stopped up are shown by zebra hatching; 

(o) lengths of highway to be improved are shown by cross hatching, and 
where the improvement of a length of highway invo ves itcre-alignment, the 
cross hatching shows tho re-aligned position; and 

(d) routes of new highways to be provided are shown by stipple and a reference 
letter is given to each new highway, 

1. 

Page 97



-- r 

l, aoh new highway shall for the purpose of the Highways Aot 1959 be a highway 
maintainable at the publio expense and the Council shall be tho highway authority for 
it. 

, Where immediately before the date on which a highway is stopped up in pursuance 
of this Order there is apparatus of statutory undertakers under, in, on, over, along 
or across the highway, the undertakers shall (subjoot to tho provisions of seotion 32(3) 
of the Mineral Workings Act 1951) continue to have the same rigits in respeot of the 
apparatus as tiey then had, 

6, In this Order 

"the Counoil" 

"highway to be improved" 

"main highway" 

"new highway" 

"site plan" 

means the Council of the County of Durham; 

means a highway required by this Order to be 
improved, but does not include a main highway; 

means a highway for the construction or 
improvement of which by the Council planning 
permission has been granted under Part III of 
the Town and Country Planning iot 1971, and in 
the interests of the safety of the users of 
whioh, or for facilitating the movement of 
traffio on wnioh, this Order is mate; 

means a highway required by this Crder to be 
constructed, but does not include a main 
highway; 

means one of the site plans numbered 1 and 2 and 
contained in the plan folio numbered 
"DN 505335/1/38", marked "Highways at Spennymoor 
in the County of Durham", signed by authority of 
the Secretary of State and deposited at the 
Department of the Environment, St Christopher 
House, Southwark Street, London SE1 TE 

Z, This Order shall come into operation on the date on which notice that it has been 
made is first published in accordance with section 215(7) of the Town and Country 
Planning Aot 1971 and may be cited as the Spennymoor Western Link Road Scheme 
(Stopping up) Order 197$, 

Signed by authority of 
the Secretary of State 
1Ao-g+ 1975. 

Regional Controller (Roads and Transportation) 
Northern Region 
Department of the Environment 

2. 

Page 98



SCHEDULE 1 

Locality South of Spennymoor 

Site Plan Title - Highways South of Spennymoor 

Route of Main lighwgy - Spennymoor Western Link Road 

Lengtlg of ii&iMgy, to be ±topped up 

1. Durham Road (4688) from a point 130 metres north 
east of its junotion with the road to Willington (U/ 96) 
north eastwards for 478 metres (and marked 1 on site 
plan no 1). 

2. The public footpath No 97] where it orossee the main 
highway (and marked 2 on site plan no 1) 

3. The publio footpath No 110 where it crosses the main 
highway (and marked 3 on site plan no 1) 

4, Nanny Pop Lonnen but exoluding the eastern footway 
at its junction with the north-western boundary of the 
main highway (and marked 4 on site plan no 1) 

5, The bridleway No 112 where it crosses the main 
highway (and marked 5 on site plan no 1) 

6, The public footpath No 113 where it orosses the main 
highway (and marked 6 on site plan no 1) 

llihwayg to be improved 

1. Durnam Road 
2, Nanny Pop Lonnen 
3. North Close Road 

SCHEDULE 2 

Locality - Low House Farm 

Particulars of New Hi&hwsY 
Reference Letter 

A 

Site Plan Title - Highways near Low House 'arm 

Route of Main llighwgy Spennymoor Western Link Road 

LengtLg of Highwg to be stopped up Particulars of Ne Ii~sys 
eferne Letter 

7. South View, but excluding the eastern footway, from 
a point 138 metres south of its junotion with Durham 
Road southwards for 34 metres to its junotion with 
the north-western boundary of the main highway (and 
maltked 7 on site plan no 2). B 

8, South View from a point 39 metres east of its junction 
with the public footpath No 154 eastwards for 195 metres 
(and marked 8 on site plan no 2). 

Highway to be improved 

South View 

B 

Page 99



• 74 

I 
I 

'
/ 
/ 

3 n' "en : 1·' ; 1' ".;',"1:,-,. / Pirminyhars 
Ing?y Hot:e , 

School ( t¢  
Pi ii,, Departmnt oi e sent Lin$ 
nary school., Environment 

i 

I 
TOWN AND COUNT? ! 

PLANNING ACT, 197 ' 
Tle Secretary s:·, ¢, '. 

Enironmen: Hs; ,_ e for : ' 
that he ha '! 0ts Nag 
s2ii or t"" made .n ·e«+ es.r 
Se, e abow amt et !y"; Pgymoor western 1 - + chem (Stop+ ," · .¥° 4 
author!st" "pg t) 'rae; :7, 

le +,_'K tao s@npr tn ; enzts of purhar :., ' 
+ pumas {if vies,i# '?' ,'yes, ridleway N, 112 ' ' Lon¢ 
stet n t9spas nr»,/%',j,,3?; 
1, cookery,/ all at �penn�·nHlor, c.:01;0., 0,.�11_' · 

and requiring the re, 'am 
highw e prove.on et 
re}. i:, "e rails, 

6 ways 
· Copies of the 0red 

obtained, fire or el""" may he cation to tho p, 'A.e. on nn]. 
(Roads ' egnaI Ce:-,a 

.3 [oruer ~! Transortat:om 
pm• I the Em·ir�n C'J;:'10""- Dco.!r. :nP1,t of 

. Gatoga 'Pent, Wwet.- ti;e, P.. 

. NEI jfi',ewcaste on Ts ..• 
- Quoting DN 65%. 

I 
and. may be '""PC'"'tcd : _.,, J • ,..,1 

- able hours at the ,' '. Fason. ..» 
Chit E o ' :s ., e1 xecutive and Clo p'a County Ce er- ur+: 
Di ·ha ounil, Creese t:';;' urham, and th cit, ::. pew 
Ofcer, Sedge«jd i.." _·' $ Green Lane, e[' ·r: Counce:i, $ 

I 
, �r-.!nm moor · , 

0 Any P':i(l)n a�;,,eF••� -.. .. 
rder and desir; +, ' tie ' 

validity hers6¢"" to r- ts» ' 
vision contain%; ;;_' " sr». 2 
ground tat , Beren, on : s 
powers se''r not tin • 

' Local line re«,,, 'he ao nos - ., • 
974.-ianv r_,}ement t :at et or s st 

ciuse lnat j%, 'Rmon rde :sorere •. 
canon t ,en conn!ed wii in -,'' ' o t'e order me e. n Ispect of the 2;j,'', r .wr. . 

11 
-Jtl .... e:,te••·nnr ., .• _ 

ounen to the High « " · •• an,v cooks sin r Res,""" pr he ssner. 
to; of any e,, O1 tho ore.- ¢ in.I · provson "tars ·rgr,,, 
Mn.i ID. Br5. " s., 

rham,' A Prine,pt O:.s- in g, 
or or'; Department of the 

fr 
jig] City cf Durham / i 

" ' sFt ded , -' • 
litor. . " · ['Py AN cou»ma 

.,,. 6 'LANNING (Listed Bel4.. r 
---·.·sua +inning Comitee pings and Be;[4;. ' 

u; lings in Con.·;a 
' 

I 
Deportment of th� 

/ • scrvat1on Arcos) 
.. ° REGULATION! 1972 

TRy Environment 'me La. ', • • 
l rec ."al Planning Amar1 1,' » l . ---- . CJ\,.� an .1po'• ... , ,,, , 

«l-! TOWN AND CouvTAy .Ki;j;~,';'.': C I />L !hJ IC. I r,,r.r !)10-/-,:1111 ( ,. / on- .ANNING ACT, 197] 'iii"?"?e,tr «stir •. 
, ? lu,, s melded s t , u, Tho Seret.r ; he De,ureter • tad? 1 sn 

., · mitroni,,,''s of State tor the !met's List of :he EE • 2 ±yell"},"res Gies is '«var'%e ',Ryz or ire.t 
/"'ll1c c·, ,ire :-i�1 ord!'r t'l,tl!l(,J/ 1· . l n,_ ,li\"rC'�: , 

;; : it aversion of Hi[gee. ories 0f 1! .: 
� •Y l!l1, f.notpath-. o;:- , . ., 11 .,1': i,.;i:,<: wto p/;:n ,'\re 1'. •- ,1rp11,··,;,,,:1 ;nil, u 1. 
. ot Dari.m) y, "ewass (toasjTne t.liolr fr secs . 
{ot s et:sn ';""; },Order. ids«. ,

,!

"gin;_ones. isi 
Cit} . .!!'On'\ flld" h- .,� n .. il \\n1th ,�er,1:hirtr" ;J\ ,.,1r,, lrrr,c,• nur11.,. \•·, 

xisti, (other i',,"""to us vehicles 3 omat once tours 
I" 4tar hi6K woes 

c i < ' l . ) ·) 

0,) .. ,. 

J. D. Barber, A Principal Officer in the Department of 
the Environment. 

TOWN AND COUNTRY PLANNING ACT 1971 
'Te Secretary of State for the Environment hereby gives 
notice that he has made an Order under section 2ll of the 
above Act entitled " 'The Spennymoor Western Link Road 
Scheme (Stopping up) Order 1975" authorising the 
stopping up of lengths of Durham Road (A.688), South 
View, Nanny Pop Lonnen, Bridleway No. 1H2 and three 
public footpaths numbered 97, 110 and 113, all at S»penny 
moor, County Durham and requiring the provision of new 
highways and the improvement of existing highways. 

Copies of the Order may be obtained, free of charge, on 
application to the Regional Controller (Roads and 'Trans 
portation), Northern Region, Department of the Environ 
ment, Wellbar House, Gallowgate, Newcastle upon Tyne, 
NEI 4T (quoting DN 505335/1/38) and may be 
inspected at all reasonable hours at the offices of the Chief 
Executive and Clerk, Durham County Council, County Hall, 
Durham and the Chief Executive OIlicer, Sedgefield District 
Council, Green Lane, Spennymoor. 

Any person aggrieved by the Order and desiring to 
question the validity thereof, or of any provision contained 
therein, on the ground that it is not within the powers of 
the above Act or that any requirement of that Act or of any 
regulation made thereunder has not been complied with in 
relation to the Order, may, within 6 weeks of the 25th 

'I 

September 1975, apply to the High Court for the suspension.' 
• or quashing of the Order or of any provision contained 

therein. 

TIE LONDON GZETTE, 25T11 SEPTEMBER 1975 
r 

Page 100



• 
HIGHWAYS AT SPENNYMOOR 

IN THE 
COUNTY OF DURHAM 

SCALES: SITE PLAN I -1/2500 
SITE PLAN 2 - 1/5OO 

l 
KEY: 

BASED ON THE ORDNANCE SURVEY MAP WITH THE 
SANCTION OF H.M. STATIONERY OFFICE. 

SIGNED BY AUTHORITY 
OF THE 

SECRETARY OF STATE 

ON 2I A2+ 197S 

t0.•  
REGIONAL CONTROLLER 
(ROADS AND TRANSPORTATION) 
NORTHERN REGION 
DEPARTMENT OF THE ENVIRONMENT 

PLAN No. 
DN5O5335/1/38 
DATE: 
I8»»MARCH 1975 

DEPARTMENT 
OF THE 

ENVIRONMENT 
(HIGH WAYS) 

ROUTE OF MAIN HIGHWAY_ -= 
EXISTING HIGHWAYS TO BE STOPPED UP_- 
EXISTING HIGHWAYS TO BE IMPROVED_-2 
ROUTE OF NEW HIGHWAYS _iii....7EE7 

- 

Page 101



P
age 102


	Agenda
	3 Minutes of the Meeting held on 7 October 2021
	5 Proposal to add an old road 'Nanny Poes Lane 'in Middlestone, to the Definitive Map and Statement of Public Rights of Way as a Public Bridleway - Joint Report of Corporate Director of Neighbourhoods and Climate Change and Corporate Director of Resources
	5. Appendix 2 evidence
	Appendix 3 Consultation Response (1)
	Ramblers Nanny Poes Lane.2pdf.pdf (p.2-3)
	Sylvia Briggs_Re_ Consultation regarding Definitive Map Applications at Middlestone County Durham .pdf (p.5-6)


	6 Definitive Map Modification Application to record the former road Nanny Pops Lonnen in Spennymoor as Public Bridleway - Joint Report of Corporate Director of Neighbourhoods and Climate Change and Corporate Director of Resources
	6. Appendix 2 Evidence
	6. Appendix 3 Response to Consultation
	D HARDAKER_Re_ Consultation Notice - Application to Modify the Definitive Map 2 Routes at Middlestone.pdf (p.1)
	Sylvia Briggs_Re_ Consultation regarding Definitive Map Applications at Middlestone County Durham .pdf (p.2-3)
	Jo Bird Response to both Consultations.pdf (p.4)
	Sylvia Briggs_Re_ Consultation regarding Definitive Map Applications at Middlestone County Durham .pdf (p.2-3)
	Jo Bird Response to both Consultations.pdf (p.4)

	6. Appendix 4 Copy of Stopping Up Schedule


